
1 

APPROVED MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
CITY OF WYOMING, MINNESOTA 

SEPTEMBER 11, 2018 
7:00 PM 

CALL TO ORDER: 
Planning Commission Chairman Lobermeier called the Regular Meeting of the Wyoming Planning 
Commission of September 11, 2018 to order at 7:00 P.M. 
 
CALL OF ROLL: 
On a Call of the Roll the following members of the Wyoming Planning Commission were present: 
Judy Coughlin, Mark Lobermeier, Dennis Schilling, Bryan Murdock and Joel Ericson 
 
Members Absent: Council Liaison Lisa Iverson. 
 
Also Present: Zoning Administrator Fred Weck. 
 
DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM: 
 
Chairman Lobermeier determined a quorum was present. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
OPEN FORUM: 
“An opportunity for members of the public to address the Planning Commission on items not on the 
current Agenda.  Items requiring Planning Commission action maybe deferred to staff for research 
and future Planning Commission Agendas if appropriate.” 
 
George Osgood asked for a moment of silence in honor of 9/11. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
1. Consider approving the minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Wyoming, 

Minnesota Planning Commission for August 28, 2018. 

Commissioner Coughlin noted that she had one typo on page 2, the last paragraph, replace the 
word “were” with the word “there”.   
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER COUGHLIN, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER SCHILLING, TO APPROVE THE “REGULAR MEETING” 
MINUTES OF THE WYOMING, MINNESOTA PLANNING COMMISSION FOR AUGUST 28, 2018 
AS AMENDED. 
 
Voting Aye: Coughlin, Schilling, Murdock, Ericson, and Lobermeier. 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: None 
 
SCHEDULED PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
2. None.  



2 

NEW BUSINESS: 
3. Conditional Use Permit:  Mathew Wick and Jake Miller 
 
 Automobile Dealership  Life Rides, Inc. 
 
      26643 Fallbrook Avenue, Unit C 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck noted that this item is actually a public hearing and was not listed under 
the proper agenda line item.  He noted that their property will only allow for 4 parking spaces but they 
have a lease agreement to utilize additional spaces from the business next door.  He noted that 
existing in this building is a Miller Mobile Marine, Jay’s Body & Paint, Odin, Limited and a small 
apartment space.  He stated that the zoning ordinance requires three parking spaces per bay and 
one parking space per employee for repair shops.  He stated that he was unable to gain access to 
all of the building to determine the exact total number of spaces needed for the entire property.  He 
stated that this business requires 9 spaces.  
 
Mathew Wick and Jake Miller appeared before the Commission.  Mr. Wick stated that they have in 
been in the motor vehicle business for a combined 30+ years.  He stated that he was a dealership 
manager and Mr. Miller was a service manager for a dealership in East Bethel and felt it was time to 
go out on their own and would like to work with the City.  He stated that their hope is to build a new 
facility in 2 years and noted that most of the cars will not be onsite because this is an internet-based 
business and will not have customers coming in. He noted he felt the way the ordinance was written 
regarding parking was confusing.  He wondered if the requirement for parking included indoor parking 
spaces because their proposal includes indoor parking with a garage that can hold up to five vehicles.  
He stated that there will only be two employees and at most, two customers at any time.   He stated 
that they made arrangements to have access to 6 additional spaces in front of Jay’s Body & Paint. 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck noted that the section of the ordinance that deals with parking is Section 
40-662.  He read aloud from the ordinance and stated that he felt the intent was not to include parking 
available inside the building.   
 
Commissioner Murdock asked how many vehicles would be on the property over a one-year time 
period. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that he expects that 50% of the vehicles will never make it to the facility because 
they will be pre-sold.  He stated that he is guessing maybe 4-5 vehicles per month, so about 60 per 
year, because they are planning to start slow.   
 
Commissioner Murdock asked if the building was set up with floor drains and if there was an oil 
separator    
 
Mr. Wick stated that he wasn’t sure about the rest of the building, but their portion did have floor 
drains.  He stated that they do not plan to do any onsite service or repair and will send all of them off 
site.  He stated that he thinks the only thing they may do on site is interior detailing. 
 
Commissioner Murdock asked if they would do any engine cleaning on site. 
 
Mr. Miller stated that they would not do that on site.  He stated that they have a detailing company 
that they have used for a few years that will handle all the dirty work.     
 
Commissioner Murdock noted that their answers to his questions have answered his other question 
about how this internet-based business was different than other businesses. 
 



3 

Mr. Wick noted that the auto industry has changed dramatically in the last 15 years or so because 
people don’t have time to drive around and look at cars and can do it by just a click of the mouse on 
their computer. 
 
Commissioner Murdock asked if they would be interested in the space if it did not contain floor drains. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that it makes no difference to them if the space has floor drains.  He noted that in 
the additional information he had provided to Zoning Administrator Weck, the building owner has 
indicated that he plans to paved the whole side of the building, but if he doesn’t do it by spring he 
has gotten quotes and spoken with the other tenants about paving it.   
 
Zoning Administrator Weck read aloud from the staff report and noted that in addition to the paving, 
there will be need to be stormwater management.  He noted that there is only a 50% impervious 
surface material allowed and he thinks this site may already be close to 90%, so to pave more will 
require a variance.  He cautioned them that it may not work out to pave more area.   
 
Commissioner Coughlin asked if only used cars would be available or if there will also be new cars. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that he has contacts in the new car business so it is possible but about 95% of their 
cars will be used. 
 
Commissioner Coughlin asked if people were comfortable buying a car from the internet that they 
haven’t actually seen. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that he has had customers from as far away as Alaska and Montana.   
 
Mr. Miller stated that they take a lot of detailed pictures that answer a lot of the questions that people 
want to know.   
 
Mr. Wick stated that he has never had a complaint or anything come back that he has shipped out.   
 
Commissioner Schilling asked if this was the only site they were considering in Wyoming because 
he is concerned about how tight it is in this area.  
 
Mr. Wick stated that they are trying not to get ahead of themselves with somewhere that has a huge 
rent.  He reiterated that they are hoping to outgrow this location within 2 years.   
 
Commissioner Schilling noted that he is very familiar with this type of business because he has 
purchased 2 vehicles this way.  He noted that one came from Florida and one came from Little 
Canada.   He stated that his biggest concern is the lack of parking.   
 
Commissioner Ericson asked how many employees they will have. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that it will just be the two of them and they are co-owners.  He confirmed that they 
do not plan to add employees while they are in this facility.   
 
Commissioner Ericson asked where their current business was located. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that they have been working for other people so this will be a new venture. 
 
Commissioner Murdock asked if the building was set up with firewalls inside so vehicles can be 
parked indoors overnight. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that it was.   



4 

 
Commissioner Murdock stated that if their business were to succeed faster than planned whether 
they had a back up plan for vehicle storage. 
 
Mr. Wick noted that he lives on 5 acres and his father-in-law lives on 120 acres with 2 outbuildings.  
He stated that is not his desire, because they are further away, but it is a back up plan.  He stated 
that want to work with the City and follow the necessary ordinances.   
 
Commissioner Murdock stated that the City was glad they wanted to locate their business here and 
asked how they chose Wyoming. 
 
Mr. Wick stated that he has worked with Brian Peterson for the last 6 or 7 years and Mike Soule, who 
was the auditor for their last business and they both said that Wyoming was awesome to work with 
and knew that the City was looking for good businesses.    
 
Chair Lobermeier opened the Public Hearing for comment at 7:25 p.m.  There being no comment, 
Chair Lobermeier closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner Murdock asked if the applicants were to find off-site parking if that would qualify and 
be compliant. 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that under the joint facilities requirement, the parking would have 
to be within 300 feet, hours cannot conflict and be protected with recordable covenant documents.  
He stated that Grace Church has been able to do this successfully because of the hours but doesn’t 
think this will be possible with other businesses that operate basically the same hours.   He stated 
that he did not have a chance to physically go into the building and count bays and is still unsure 
what kind of business Odin, Limited is.   
 
Chair Lobermeier stated that the ordinance appears to be written around traditional open auto sales 
lots and wonders if the City should be taking a look at that.  He stated that he does not feel this 
application is quite complete.  He stated that while this situation is complicated that doesn’t 
necessarily mean it is not doable.  He stated that he would like to see how the stormwater would be 
managed and would like to consider tabling this item until more information can be gathered.   
 
Commissioner Schilling stated that he agrees with the notion of tabling because he does not feel 
there is enough information for him to make a decision.  He stated that he would like to see the 
designated parking shown on a site plan, and a copy of the written agreement that they can use 
those spaces.   
 
MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER SCHILLING, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER MURDOCK, TO TABLE DISCUSSION OF THE 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR MATHEW WICK AND JAKE MILLER FOR LIFE RIDES, INC. 
 
Voting Aye: Coughlin, Schilling, Murdock, Ericson, and Lobermeier. 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: None 
 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck asked the applicants to call him so they can figure out a way to get into 
the other units and get the parking stall number correct as the first step. 

OLD BUSINESS 
4. Ordinance Review  Shoreland District. 



5 

 
Chair Lobermeier noted that the Shoreland Ordinance is almost complete and suggested starting the 
discussion at Section 40-316.  He noted that Zoning Administrator Weck had supplied the model 
ordinance for this section and he feels that it may be too detailed and noted that a suggestion was 
included in the packet that was based on the discussion at the August 28, 2018 meeting. 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that he believes the City likes how the Heims Lake Villa turned out 
using the tiered system, but noted that the City can be more restrictive than the DNR rule.  He 
suggested taking a look at what density the City would like to keep and suggested putting the tiers 
back in but with the density that the City would support.  He stated that the City did not want to stop 
development. 
 
Chair Lobermeier stated that his idea was to find a way to simplify the language. 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that he can take some time trying to simplify this language and 
bring it back to a future meeting for discussion.   
 
Chair Lobermeier moved on to discussion Controlled Access Lots on page 7, and explained some of 
what the Commission discussed at the last meeting, since Zoning Administrator Weck was unable to 
attend the meeting.  He noted the Commission had discussed removing the (b) and replacing it with 
the language in red.  He stated that this eliminated the notion of 6 watercraft and increased the lot 
size by 50% as well as eliminated the table.  He stated that there was also a suggestion to have each 
controlled access lot be allowed a single dock consistent with the City standards.  He noted that part 
of their discussion at the last meeting was that there weren’t these types of restrictions for residential 
units in the area surrounding the allowed number of watercraft.  He noted the suggested revision at 
the top of page 8, item 3, and replace the existing language with one that with limits the number of 
vehicles allowed to be parked be related to the lot size and not the number of watercraft.  He stated 
that the Commission has decided to allow controlled access lots, but with greater restrictions.   
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that he thinks the suggested revisions will allow for 20 boats to be 
docked on a 100-foot single dock and residents had trouble with the idea of six boats. 
 
Commissioner Schilling noted that after the last meeting he went home and started calculating and 
he also came up with the figures that Zoning Administrator Weck had just described. He stated that 
this brought him back to his original point that if you are specifically looking at the City, it is literally 
just one lake, Comfort Lake. 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck noted that there is also a small lake called Whitestone. 
 
Commissioner Schilling suggested language that states that controlled access is not allowed on a 
lake under 400 acres.  He stated that the language and the restrictions could be kept but just say 
that controlled access is not allowed under 400 acres.   
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that if the Commission would decide to follow Commissioner 
Schilling’s suggestion, he would recommend simply saying that there is no controlled access allowed, 
because Comfort Lake would have to double in size to be eligible.   
 
Commissioner Murdock stated that he was coming in late to the discussion, but did research today 
on similar ordinances in other counties.  He noted that one that caught his eye is in Becker County 
who has an ordinance that takes into account the benefits of not developing lakeshore into docks 
and access areas and allowing controlled access only for lake owners that do not have access to the 
water, for example with a physical limitation of steep banks or wildlife issue.  
 



6 

Commissioner Coughlin stated that she is still in favor of allowing controlled access but it needs to 
be way less than 20 boats. 
   
George Osgood, 260th Street, stated that although he is not officially speaking for the entire lake 
association, the consensus from them was no controlled access.  He stated that he feels controlled 
access will cause overcrowding, a safety problem, policing problems and would cause problems to 
the ecology of the lake.  He stated that when the DNR originally put in the public access, he doesn’t 
think they used to correct numbers to calculate the number of spots.     
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER SCHILLING, TO RECOMMEND 
TO THE CITY COUNCIL THAT THE SHORELAND ORDINANCE NOT ALLOW CONTROLLED 
ACCESS LOTS ON ANY BODY OF WATER UNDER 400 ACRES.   
 
Motion died for lack of a second. 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNNG COMMISSION MEMBER SCHILLING, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER MURDOCK, TO RECOMMEND TO THE CITY COUNCIL 
THAT THE SHORELAND ORDINANCE NOT ALLOW CONTROLLED ACCESS LOTS. 
 
Commissioner Coughlin stated that all along her thought was that it would be nice to have controlled 
access lots, however, based on the fact that the Commission can’t seem to get the language that 
would limit it enough, she is going to change her position and vote in favor of the motion.    
 
Voting Aye: Coughlin, Schilling, Ericson, Murdock, and Lobermeier. 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: None 
 
Chair Lobermeier asked about Section 40-338 and whether it was redundant with the other section 
on PUDs. 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that it is just a placeholder. 
 
Chair Lobermeier confirmed that Zoning Administrator Weck will bring back revised and simplified 
language for Section 40-316.  His hope is to finish the Shoreland ordinance review at the next 
meeting.   
 
Commissioner Murdock stated that he will submit his information on the Becker County ordinance in 
case the City ever needed to refer back to it. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
5.  None 
 
UPDATES: 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck noted that at the next meeting there will be the Preliminary Plat for the 
Cherry Hill development and the Shoreland Ordinance. 
 
Commissioner Coughlin thanked the new members for joining us and asked Zoning Administrator 
Weck to provide them copies of the necessary information like copies of the City Code and perhaps 
the Comprehensive Plan.   
 



7 

Zoning Administrator Weck suggested that it was easier to go on-line for the City code because it is 
kept updated. 
 
Commissioner Coughlin noted that the Planning Commission can take classes that the City will pay 
for on Planning and Zoning offered through GTS which she feels have been very helpful. 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER SCHILLING, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER COUGHLIN, TO ADJOURN THE REGULAR MEETING OF 
THE WYOMING, MINNESOTA PLANNING COMMISSION FOR SEPTEMBER 11, 2018 AT 8:18 
P.M. 
Voting Aye: Coughlin, Schilling, Murdock, Ericson, and Lobermeier 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: None 


